THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002539

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2019

SC Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

The State,.....Respondent,

v.

John Michael Hughes.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.  
Post Office Box 50143  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 779-2211  
Attorney for Appellant

AND

Robert M. Dudek  
S.C. Bar No. 1767  
Office of Appellate Defense  
Post Office Box 11589  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-1330  
Attorney for Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the trial court err reversibly in the manner in which it conducted the hearing on whether Appellant was immune from prosecution under the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, *et seq.*, and in the evidence it allowed in that hearing, entitling Appellant to a new hearing?
- II. Did the trial court err reversibly in improperly allowing testimony and exhibits concerning leuco crystal violet testing?
- III. Did the trial court err reversibly in failing to grant a motion to suppress cell phone data evidence obtained through an invalid warrant and in admitting such evidence?
- IV. Did the trial court err reversibly in allowing the admission of a 911 call recording where the statements made on the recording were hearsay that fell within no exception to the general rule against hearsay?
- V. Did the trial court err reversibly in failing to direct a verdict as to the conspiracy charge?
- VI. Did the trial court err reversibly in failing to charge the jury as to a statutory presumption of reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury as provided in the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state indicted the Appellant, John Michael Hughes (hereinafter "Hughes") on charges of murder, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and conspiracy in connection with the shooting death of John Ferrell (hereinafter "Ferrell"), which occurred on January 24, 2015. (R. pp. 5-8.) Ferrell was Hughes' son-in-law. (R. p. 82 ln. 21-25, p. 609 ln. 21-23.) Hughes filed a written motion for a determination of his immunity from prosecution and dismissal of the charges under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, *et seq.*, the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act (hereinafter "the Act"). Just before the commencement of the trial, the lower court held a hearing on the motion and denied it. (R. pp. 51-185.)

The thrust of Hughes' testimony in that hearing was that Ferrell, who was estranged from Hughes' daughter, had come to Hughes' house on the night in question to discuss pending family court custody proceedings involving Ferrell's children (who are also Hughes' grandchildren), then left, or appeared to leave. (R. p. 59 ln. 16 through p. 68 ln. 13.) Hughes testified that, a short time later, he heard some thumping noises on the outside of his house that were out of the ordinary and, fearing that someone might be trying to enter the home he shared with his wife, his daughter, his daughter's boyfriend, and his grandchildren, called to his family to call 911 and decided to go outside with his pistol and investigate the source of the noises. (R. p. 69 ln. 1-25.) He testified that, once outside, in the dark, he saw someone at his kitchen window who appeared to be partly in and partly out of the window and that called out to the person, who dropped down from the window and advanced toward Hughes, despite Hughes' admonitions to the person not to move and that the police were being called. (R. p. 73

ln. 2 through p. 74 ln. 19.) Hughes fired his pistol at the person multiple times, and the person stopped moving. (R. p. 74 ln. 20 through p. 75 ln. 20.) He called 911, and, because a 911 call had already been made, police officers arrived as he was on the phone with the 911 operator. (R. p. 76 ln. 23 through p. 77 ln. 6.) Hughes testified that he was not aware that the person he had shot was his son-in-law until an officer shined a light on the dead person's face. (R. p. 80 ln. 22 through p. 81 ln. 4, p. 108 ln. 1-4.)

During the hearing and during the trial, Hughes' counsel objected to the introduction of testimony and test results regarding the use of a substance called leuco crystal violet, often referred to in the hearing and trial by its acronym, LCV. (R. p. 137 ln. 15 through p. 149 ln. 20, p. 312 ln. 18 through p. 325 ln. 13, p. 327 ln. 20 through p. 331 ln. 7, p. 332 ln. 21 through p. 333 ln. 19, p. 336 ln. 2 through p. 337 ln. 13.) In the motion hearing, one of the state's witnesses described LCV as "a reagent and a presumptive test. It reacts to hemoglobin in blood. When you get a positive result, it will turn a violet color when sprayed and it makes contact with the suspected blood." (R. p. 137 ln. 4-8.) Hughes' objections in this regard were focused on the lack of a proper foundation for testimony about the usage of LCV and its results in this case, failure to authenticate the accuracy of the LCV testing process used or the accuracy of the results in this case, that the witness offering such testimony during the immunity motion hearing was offering expert opinions without ever having been qualified as an expert witness, that qualification of that witness as an expert during trial was improper, that the threshold requisites for the admission of expert testimony about this scientific test had not been met, that the test is merely presumptive, that the test is unreliable, and that the testifying witnesses did not know how the LCV substance he said he used was

made, did not know whether it was made properly, and did not know whether it was past its expiration date. (R. p. 137 ln. 15 through p. 149 ln. 20, p. 312 ln. 18 through p. 325 ln. 13, p. 327 ln. 20 through p. 331 ln. 7, p. 332 ln. 21 through p. 333 ln. 19, p. 336 ln. 2 through p. 337 ln. 13.) Essentially, the state's counter-argument was that law enforcement agencies throughout the country use LCV, so testimony about LCV testing and its results in this case should be admitted. (R. p. 139 ln. 18 through p. 140 ln. 8, p. 321 ln. 20 through p. 322 ln. 7.) The state argued that "the reliability of [LCV tests] is used uniformly by law enforcement agencies throughout the county, it's been used by the FBI since 1993." (R. p. 321 ln. 21-24.) The trial court allowed the testimony, even during the immunity motion hearing, during which Robert Parker, the testifying officer, had not been qualified by the court as an expert witness. (R. p. 140 ln. 10 through p. 149 ln. 20.) The trial court also allowed the admission of the state's exhibits 30 through 32 and 39 through 57, which are photographs that purported to show visually the results of the LCV tests (i.e., bluish-purple coloration of liquid), during the immunity hearing. (R. p. 150 ln. 6 through p. 152 ln. 16, pp. 731-52.) The trial court admitted the photographs at trial, as well. (R. p. 338 ln. 6 through p. 340 ln. 2, pp. 731-52.)

Hughes moved to suppress the introduction of data evidence (text messages and incoming/outgoing call data) seized from his cell phone pursuant to a search warrant. (R. p. 414 ln. 11 through p. 423 ln. 2, p. 429 ln. 24 through p. 431 ln. 18, p. 432 ln. 9 through p. 434 ln. 10, pp. 763-66.) The trial court denied the motion to suppress and admitted the data from Hughes' cell phone into evidence over Hughes' objection. (R. p. 432 ln. 9 through p. 434 ln. 10, p. 439 ln. 2 through p. 440 ln. 2, p. 761.)

Hughes also moved to exclude the admission of the recording from a 911 call made by Hughes' daughter, Jane Hughes, arguing that Jane's statements on the recording were inadmissible hearsay and that their admission would also violate Hughes' rights under the Confrontation Clause. (R. p. 423 ln. 3 through p. 429 ln. 18.) The trial court ruled that Jane's statements on the 911 call recording were admissible, ruling that they fell within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule and that they came within an exception to the Confrontation Clause. (R. p. 431 ln. 21 through p. 432 ln. 8.) Jane did not testify at trial. (R. pp. 212-655.) The recording of the 911 call was admitted, over Hughes' objection, and played for the jury. (R. p. 573 ln. 1 through p. 574 ln. 2, p. 575 ln. 15-19.)

At the close of the state's case, Hughes moved for a directed verdict as to the charge of conspiracy. (R. p. 601 ln. 18-25.) The trial court denied the motion. (R. p. 602 ln. 1-5.)

Hughes testified at trial, consistently with his testimony in the immunity hearing. (R. p. 559 ln. 22 through p. 650 ln. 3.)

Hughes sought a jury charge on the presumption of reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 when the person against whom deadly force is used was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering a dwelling or residence. (R. p. 651 ln. 11 through p. 652 ln. 15.) The trial court declined to give such a charge, on the basis that the use of deadly force occurred in Hughes' yard and not inside his house. (R. p. 653 ln. 16-23.) At the time the trial court charged the jury, Hughes objected to the lack of this requested charge. (R. p. 718 ln. 8-16.)

The jury returned a verdict for the state on all three indictments. (R. p. 1, p. 720 In. 8 through p. 721 In. 4.) Renewing all of his previous objections, Hughes moved for a new trial, which the trial court denied. (R. p. 729 In. 17-19.) The court sentenced Hughes to prison terms on all three convictions. (R. pp. 2-4.)

This appeal followed.

### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

**Admission of evidence.** A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed on appeal under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 572, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions." In re: Care and Treatment of Miller, 393 S.C. 248, 256, 713 S.E.2d 253, 257 (2011).

**Qualification of witness as expert.** The abuse of discretion standard of review also applies to review of the qualification of a witness as an expert. Graves v. CAS Medical Sys., Inc., 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012). Accordingly, the inquiry is whether the trial "court's rulings 'either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.'" Id. (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)).

**Immunity determination.** An appellate court also reviews a determination as to immunity under an abuse of discretion standard, conducting the same inquiry into whether the trial court's decision lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. State v. Manning, 418 S.C. 38, 45, 791 S.E.2d 148, 151 (2016).

**Suppression of evidence.** In reviewing a challenge under the Fourth Amendment, such as a motion to suppress evidence, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. State v. Anderson, 415 S.C. 441, 446, 783 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2016). Accordingly, the appellate court reviews the trial court for clear error and will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. Id.

**Directed verdict.** “[W]hen ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is ‘any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 236-37, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016) (quoting State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955)). “When the evidence submitted raises a mere suspicion that the accused is guilty, a directed verdict should be granted because suspicion implies a belief of guilt based on facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Id. at 236.

**Jury charges.** “When reviewing a jury charge for error, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole; the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.” State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 498, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482 (2016).

### **ARGUMENT**

The trial court committed several errors that are likely to have critically affected the outcome of Hughes’ trial. Even in isolation, any one of them would provide sufficient grounds to reverse and remand. Taken together, they loudly call for this court to reverse and remand so that Hughes may receive a trial in which these errors do not occur; in other words, so that he may receive the trial to which he was entitled.

**I. The trial court never should have allowed the testimony about the LCV testing nor admitted the related exhibits.**

The testimony about the LCV testing and results, as well as the photographs related thereto, was evidence that was scientific in character. The officer who provided that testimony should never have been qualified as an expert, and the required foundation for the admission of the evidence was never laid. The trial court never should have allowed this testimony or admitted those exhibits. The testimony and exhibits were critical to the state's case, as the state relied on them heavily to paint a picture of a murder scene that differed markedly from Hughes' testimony about what occurred. As discussed below, the trial court's rulings in this regard either lack evidentiary support, are controlled by an error of law, or both. The admission of this evidence by the trial court requires reversal by this court.

**a. The LCV testimony and photographs were scientific evidence.**

The testimony and exhibits that the trial court allowed about the workings of LCV and the results of LCV application in this case were, beyond any reasonable question, scientific evidence. Officer Robert Parker, the witness the state used to present this evidence, testified that LCV is "a reagent and a presumptive test. It reacts to hemoglobin in blood. When you get a positive result, it will turn a violet color when sprayed and it makes contact with the suspected blood." (R. p. 137 ln. 4-8.) When the evidence was offered at the immunity hearing, the assistant solicitor acknowledged (perhaps without meaning to) that the state was relying on the LCV testing results as scientific evidence, stating that that "the chemical itself" was what had "the testimonial

value in this case[.]” (R. p. 143 ln. 9-10.) Officer Parker testified that the LCV is used “for science purposes[.]” (R. p. 145 ln. 17.)

The use of LCV is a scientific testing process that is used for the presumptive detection of hemoglobin by the user of LCV essentially conducting a scientific experiment designed to result in the creation of visual evidence of the presence of iron or other metals in liquid that is suspected to be blood. (R. p. 137 ln. 4-8, p. 139 ln. 14-7.) Testimony about and the visual depiction of the results of LCV testing are scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, just as are “DNA test results, blood spatter interpretation, and bite mark comparisons.” State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 142, 406 S.E.2d 369, 371 (1991); accord State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 17-21, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) (results of mitochondrial DNA analysis are scientific evidence).

The LCV testimony and related exhibits that were admitted in this case were scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE. Accordingly, that state would have had to establish a number of things in order for them to be properly admitted.

**b. Parker was not qualified to give expert testimony about LCV.**

“Scientific evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE,” when “(1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; (3) the underlying science is reliable . . . ; and (4) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.” Jones, 343 S.C. at 572.

To qualify a witness to provide expert testimony, a court is required to determine, unless the witness’ qualification is stipulated, that the witness has “acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject

matter[.]” Graves, 401 S.C. at 74 (quoting Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010)).

Parker, the witness through which the state elicited all of the testimony it offered about LCV, had not “acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert” about anything related to LCV. Id. He testified that he did not know how LCV is mixed, i.e., made. (R. p. 328 ln. 20-22, p. 364 ln. 11-12.) Parker testified that he did not know what is in LCV, noting that it was his understanding that LCV is a mixture made from four parts, none of which he knew. (R. p. 328 ln. 23 through p. 329 ln. 6, p. 363 ln. 23 through p. 364 ln. 10.) He testified that he did not “understand the chemical properties of LCV and how it works[.]” saying, “No, sir. I just know the reaction.” (R. p. 364 ln. 13-15.) He was not familiar with how long LCV takes to expire. (R. p. 365 ln. 23 through p. 366 ln. 21.) He did not know the number of cases in which he had used LCV. (R. p. 329 ln. 7-9.) His minimal two-session “training” in LCV appears to have consisted of spraying it on pigs’ blood. (R. p. 144 ln. 13-24, p. 328 ln. 6-19, p. 329 ln. 23 through p. 330 ln. 13.) His training on LCV did not include any instruction on quality control procedures designed to ensure that LCV works properly. (R. p. 330 ln. 14 through p. 331 ln. 3.) To use the phrasing from a cross-examination question by Hughes’ trial counsel, “basically, somebody told [Parker] if it turns blue, it’s suspected blood[.]” (R. p. 364 ln. 16-17.)

That is not sufficient to establish Parker’s qualification to testify as to this scientific evidence. If anything, Parker’s testimony readily establishes that he had *not* “acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular

subject matter” of LCV testing. Graves, 401 S.C. at 74. It was error for the court to qualify him during the trial to provide expert testimony to the jury. (R. p. 317 ln. 5-6.)

As also discussed further below, it is of note that the court committed a related, important, and equally prejudicial, but different error with regard to allowing Parker to provide scientific testimony about LCV in the pre-trial immunity hearing. There, the court allowed this testimony, over Hughes’ objection, without ever being asked by the state to qualify Parker as an expert witness, much less ever actually doing so. (R. p. 140 ln. 10 through p. 149 ln. 20.) In the immunity hearing, the trial court never made any determination about whether Parker had the “knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert” at all. Graves, 401 S.C. at 74.

Parker should never have been allowed to give the testimony he did about LCV.

**c. The LCV testing results were not authenticated.**

“It is black letter law that evidence must be authenticated or identified in order to be admissible.” State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 488, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (2018). In order for the proponent of evidence of the result of “a process or system used to produce” that result to authenticate it under Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE, the proponent must present “[e]vidence describing [the] process or system used to produce” the result and “showing that the process or system produces an accurate result[.]” Brown, 424 S.C. at 489 (quoting Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE).

Parker’s testimony did not establish this, and nothing else offered by the state did, either. As discussed above, Parker’s understanding of LCV and how it works was limited at best. He did not provide evidence that described the LCV process, as he did not know how it works. He testified that LCV is merely a presumptive test that does

from time to time produce false positives. (R. p. 137 ln. 5, p. 139 ln. 12-17, p. 315 ln. 13-14, p. 318 ln. 1-3, p. 364 ln. 23-25.) In the immunity hearing, reminding the court that an LCV test “is just a presumptive” test, Parker pointed out that presumptive results of an LCV test involved in this case were later determined not even to be blood at all. (R. p. 141 ln. 10-13.)

In Brown, what was at issue was the authentication of Global Positioning System (GPS) records. Brown, 424 S.C. at 486-87. The Supreme Court determined that “the testimony of [the officer] failed to authenticate [those records] because it shed no light on the accuracy of the GPS records[,]” rejecting the state’s argument that the officer’s testimony to the effect that GPS evidence is routinely used in court proceedings was sufficient to authenticate the evidence. Id. at 489. The Court observed that the “general acceptance of GPS technology does not however, translate to the State getting a pass from making a minimum showing that the GPS records it seeks to introduce into evidence are accurate.” Id.

The state made similar argument here, which the trial court appears to have accepted. (R. p. 139 ln. 18 through p. 140 ln. 8, p. 321 ln. 20 through p. 322 ln. 7.) That argument is just as wrong here as it was in Brown. There are differences between this case and Brown; however, they are not helpful to the state. Here, unlike in Brown, the state’s evidence actually demonstrated the *inaccuracy* of LCV testing. (R. p. 137 ln. 5, p. 139 ln. 12-17, p. 141 ln. 10-13, p. 315 ln. 13-14, p. 318 ln. 1-3, p. 364 ln. 23-25.)

The state failed to authenticate the LCV testing results, and it was error for the court to admit testimony about them and photographic depictions of them.

**d. The required foundation for admission of this evidence was never laid.**

“Scientific evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE,” when “(1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; (3) the underlying science is reliable . . . ; and (4) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.” Jones, 343 S.C. at 572. The following factors are used to determine the reliability of scientific testimony: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” Graves, 401 S.C. at 74 (quoting Council, 335 S.C. at 19).

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