ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Greenville County
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN MICHAEL HUGHES,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2017-002539.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 10 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

- I. The trial court admitted the results of a presumptive test for blood only after receiving proffered testimony establishing that the forensic unit officer who conducted the test had training and field experience with it and that the test itself was routinely and universally utilized.**

The State presented Greenville County Forensics Officer Robert Parker to testify, in part, that he conducted a presumptive test to examine the presence of suspected blood inside the Hughes’ home by spraying leuco crystal violet (LCV) on various objects and surfaces. Appellant opposed this testimony at the immunity hearing and before the jury (R. p. 137, line 15 – p. 149, line 20; R. p. 312, line 6 – p. 313, line 25). Both times, the trial court admitted Parker’s testimony. (R. p. 149, line 20; R. p. 331, lines 5-6). Upon motion by the State, the court qualified Parker as “an expert in the use of LCV” before the jury and admitted the evidence about the presumptive test. (R. p. 321, lines 4-9; R. p. 331, lines 5-6). This qualification and the scope of Parker’s resulting testimony finds support in the law such that no abuse of discretion occurred.

“[A] witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or

education, may testify . . . in the form of an opinion” so long as that witness’ “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.” Rule 702, SCRE. The procedure for admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, requires a series of findings. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20–21, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). The court “must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” *Id.*; *State v. White*, 382 S.C. at 270, 676 S.E.2d at 686.

“To be clear, the reliability of a witness’ testimony is not a pre-requisite to determining whether or not the witness is an expert.” *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 388, 728 S.E.2d 468, 474–75 (2012). “The expertise, reliability, and the ability of the testimony to assist the trier of fact are all threshold determinations to be made prior to the admission of expert testimony, and generally, a witness’ expert status will be determined *prior* to determining the reliability of the testimony.” *Id.* To that end, “the opponent may still challenge the amount or quality of the qualifications. It is in this latter context that the trial court properly concludes that ‘defects in the amount and quality of education or experience go to the weight to be accorded the expert’s testimony and not its admissibility.’” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. at 273–74, 676 S.E.2d at 688 (quoting *State v. Myers*, 301 S.C. 251, 256, 391 S.E.2d 551, 554 (1990)).

Parker’s Qualifications

The trial court’s qualification of Parker as an expert in the use of LCV was adequate under the strictures of Rule 702, SCRE, as interpreted by our appellate courts. A trial court is permitted to utilize a witness’ training and experience as a basis for its admission of a witness as an expert. *State v. Mealor*, 425 S.C. 625, 825 S.E.2d 53, 68 (Ct. App. 2019) (no abuse of discretion in qualifying expert on the theoretical yield of methamphetamine based on his training

and experience and where expert utilized widely accepted calculation); *State v. Rose*, 423 S.C. 382, 393, 814 S.E.2d 529, 534 (Ct. App. 2018) (affirming admission of expert in arson origin and causes where qualification was based on breadth of “experience and training possessed at the time of trial”); *contra State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) (pre-*White* case finding witness should not have been admitted as expert on barefoot sole impressions and deeming that field unreliable where there were no known standards appropriate for comparison). Our courts have found no abuse of discretion where the witness qualified as an expert “has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge.” *State v. Henry*, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 466 (Ct. App. 1997); *State v. Anderson*, 407 S.C. 278, 285, 754 S.E.2d 905, 908 (Ct. App. 2014) (internal quotations omitted).

In camera, Parker exhibited that he was qualified to testify regarding the use of LCV in processing a crime scene. (R. p. 336, line 10 – p. 348, line 17). At the time of trial Parker was a forensics officer with the Greenville County Crime Scene Unit with eleven years’ experience in law enforcement and four and a half years’ experience with the forensics unit. (R. p. 294, lines 5-15). Parker testified he’d used LCV “on a few cases over the past three years.” (R. p. 315, lines 23-24). He explained that LCV has been available for use in Greenville for as long as he’d been part of the forensics unit. (R. p. 316, lines 3-18; R. p. 327, lines 11-19). Parker testified that since 1993, the FBI has used LCV in the same manner as his own forensics division. (R. p. 316, lines 15-21). Parker explained that LCV was applied simply by misting it from a spray bottle onto the desired surface. (R. p. 316, line 23 – p. 317, line 3). He expounded that the LCV “will react to the hemoglobin in the blood” suspected to exist at the site sprayed and turns violet to “enhance”

the visibility of blood if present. (R. p. 315, lines 13-20).

As for training, Parker explained that his annual in-service forensics training included hands-on use of LCV with pig's blood. (R. p. 317, lines 6-10; R. p. 328, lines 17-19). In addition to annual training, Parker testified he had also used LCV while processing other forensic cases. (R. p. 318, lines 14-17; R. p. 326, line 5 – p. 327, line 10). He testified he was aware the possibility of a false positive exists with LCV, but that he never personally experienced one during training or in the field. He explained that a false positive may result if the area sprayed is laden with iron or other metals. (R. p. 317, line 18 – p. 318, line 11). Parker further testified during voir dire that he was aware that LCV had an expiration date once mixed, and that it was to be stored in a refrigerator, but that his duties within the forensics division pertained to the use of LCV and not its mixture or creation. (R. p. 322, line 23 – p. 323, line 24; R. p. 328, line 20 – p. 329, line 6).

The trial court complied with the mandates of Rule 702, SCRE, when it admitted Parker as an expert in the use of LCV. (R. p. 331, lines 5-6). Parker demonstrated *in camera* that he had in-service experience with the use of LCV, explained the method of application as well as the nature of potential results, acknowledged awareness that there was the possibility for false positives in the field and the reason that may occur, and further explained that he was not trained in the creation of LCV but rather on how to use it in the field. *State v. White, supra* at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 688 (“foundational reliability requirement does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach”); *see State v. Parker*, 271 S.C. 159, 163-64, 245 S.E.2d 904, 906 (1978) (demonstration of proper use of Datamaster machine by operator, rather than intimate knowledge of the machine's inner workings, creates proper foundation for admissibility of Datamaster results). Parker demonstrated knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education in the use of

LCV such that he was properly admitted as an expert, leaving the weight of the reliability of Parker's methodology for the jury to decide.³

LCV's Reliability

Rule 702, SCRE, “applies its reliability standard to all ‘scientific,’ ‘technical,’ or ‘other specialized’ matters within its scope.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. at 270, 676 S.E.2d at 686 (quoting *Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 147, 119 S.Ct. 1167, 1174 (1999)). Trial courts should examine “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures” before ruling upon the admissibility of scientific or other technical matters. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517 (applying *State v. Jones*, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979)). The probative value of the evidence sought for admission is also relevant to the propriety of the court's final determination.⁴ *Id.* at 20, 515

³ “With respect to qualifications, a witness may satisfy the Rule 702 threshold yet the opponent may still challenge the amount or quality of the qualifications. . . .” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. at 273-74, 676 S.E.2d at 688. Appellant in fact amply critiqued Parker's training and methodology during voir dire and upon cross-examination, including Parker's compliance with the expiration date of the LCV utilized at the Hughes' home and his limited knowledge concerning its chemical properties. (R. p. 328, line 4 – p. 331, line 3; R. p. 363, line 23 – p. 368, line 24). Yet these deficiencies go “to weight, not admissibility.” *State v. Myers*, 301 S.C. at 256, 391 S.E.2d at 554.

⁴ No prejudice argument appears in the record on this issue. Thus, any allegation of an erroneous Rule 403, SCRE, analysis is unpreserved. *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (“an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge”); *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996) (contemporaneous objection rule). Respondent further submits the LCV testimony was more probative than prejudicial. The positive results of the presumptive test for blood inside the home were probative of the Hughes family's clean-up after attacking the victim (i.e. the conspiracy charge) and further probative of the veracity of Martin's testimony, Jane's call to 911, and Appellant's eventual self-defense claim. And the photos themselves are not inherently prejudicial, as they do not show large swaths of either visible blood or violet from the LCV's application. (State's Exhibits 30-32 and 39-57). In any event, Respondent submits the harmless standard controls any error found by this Court.

S.E.2d at 518. If admissible, the jury is then free to weigh the evidence as it sees fit. *Id.* at-21, 515 S.E.2d at 518.

“LCV is considered a presumptive test for the presence of blood and turns purple when in contact with blood.” *People v. Lovejoy*, 235 Ill. 2d 97, 107, 919 N.E.2d 843, 849 (Ill. Sup. Ct. 2009) (capital case remanded for new trial on other grounds). The chemical can reveal evidence of cleaned-up blood because it is designed to enhance the appearance of bloodstains. *Com. v. Barnhill*, No. 1901 MDA 2013, 2014 WL 10889906, at *3 (Pa. Super. Ct. Aug. 14, 2014) (unpublished). The court aptly admitted the LCV testimony and exhibits only after conducting a proper hearing on the reliability of the presumptive test.⁵ *People v. Wright*, 2006 WL 2271264 at *6 (Mich. Ct. App. Aug. 8, 2006) (unpublished) (finding LCV results properly admitted under reliability standards test announced in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786 (1993)); see *People v. Lovejoy*, 2013 IL App (2d) 110289, ¶ 6 (Ill. App. 2d 2013) (unpublished) (finding it harmless error to admit LCV evidence without first conducting a hearing pursuant to *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), even though the State argued “LCV was generally accepted as a presumptive test for blood”) (opinion following retrial ordered in *Lovejoy, supra*). At least one court has noted that “LCV has been used in the United

⁵ As to any argument regarding authentication of the LCV evidence, no objection was raised on the basis that the evidence as not in fact what it was purported to be, leaving any argument pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, unpreserved. *State v. Prioleau, supra* at n.4; *State v. Johnson, supra* at n.4. The objection posed regarded crime scene processing done by the witness testifying before the court and not computer-generated data. *Contra State v. Brown*, 424 S.C. 479, 818 S.E.2d 735 (2018). Parker otherwise sufficiently testified that he was responsible for conducting this presumptive test and photographing the results, leaving no basis to question the authentication as a condition precedent to admissibility. (R. p. 136, line 5 – p. 137, line 12; R. p. 337, line 3 – p. 338, line 8). As to the alleged inaccuracy of the testing, (App. Br. at 13), Parker otherwise testified that if the LCV he used was expired, that there simply would be no reaction, therefore, no visible results. (R. p. 370, lines 4-10). He also testified he was aware of the possibility of false positives. (R. p. 364, line 20 – p. 365, line 8).

States and other countries since 1995, when a paper was published on its uses” and that its results can be corroborated by applying another test with phenolphthalein. *People v. Wright, supra*.

The court found the testimony concerning the use and results of LCV reliable and therefore admissible only after a proffer and consideration of the *Council* factors.⁶ (R. p. 136, line 23 – p. 149, line 20; R. p. 325, lines 11-13). Prior to the submission of the LCV evidence to the jury, Parker’s proffer established that law enforcement agencies across jurisdictions use LCV to look for blood while processing crime scenes, and have done so in a universal manner for over twenty years. (R. p. 316, lines 3-23). Parker established that LCV was uniformly used by misting it over surfaces and looking for visible results of a chemical reaction between the LCV and the properties in blood. (R. p. 137, lines 4-8; R. p. 315, lines 13-20; R. p. 316, line 23 – p. 317, lines 17). It was also clear from the proffer that quality control procedures exist for the creation, keeping, and use of the product, to include refrigeration once mixed and awareness of expiration. Though the witness limited his area of knowledge to LCV’s application in the field, he testified that the specifics of mixing and maintaining LCV were accounted for in a law enforcement manual and carried out by his supervisors. (R. p. 316, line 3 – p. 318, line 17; R. p. 322, line 13 – p. 324, line 10). And though it was known and presented by Parker that the LCV test was capable of false positives in scenarios where the surface sprayed “was high in metals or high in iron,” and though Parker admitted an inability to cite to publications or peer review concerning LCV, these weaknesses were of minimum probative value in determining reliability in this instance *because the test was presented at each proffer as being merely presumptive*. (R. p. 137,

⁶ Parker laid a similar foundation prior to the LCV results’ admission at the immunity hearing. This foundation initially delved into LCV’s purpose, use, and potential for false positives. (R. p. 138, line 12 – p. 139, line 17). But Parker also described to the court his training and field experience with the chemical, making clear in the process that his experience was limited to use in the field and not the creation and science of LCV. (R. p. 144, line 15 – p. 149, line 6).

line 5; R. p. 138, line 13; R. p. 315, line 13; R. p. 318, lines 1-7; *see also* R. p. 364, line 20 – p. 365, line 8). Accordingly, the court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the results of the presumptive test.

Harmless Error

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